A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 1. The court erred in admitting other acts evidence in violation 

of ER 404(b). 

 2. The court erred and denied Mr. Hurn a fair trial by failing to 

grant his motion to sever counts. 

 3. The court erred in failing to suppress the fruits of 

interrogation which occurred after Mr. Hurn invoked his right to 

counsel. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 1. Evidence of another person’s conduct is not, by itself, 

logically relevant to assess the credibility of a witness at trial. That is 

especially so where the witness has not placed her credibility at issue 

by contradicting or recanting earlier statements. ER 404(b) does not 

permit admission of other acts evidence in that circumstance. Did the 

court err in admitting evidence of Mr. Hurn’s past acts ostensibly as 

relevant to other witnesses’ credibility. 

 2. Evidence of a person’s other acts is not logically relevant 

unless it tends to make a fact of consequence more or less likely and 

does so free of its propensity value. Did the court err where the court 

admitted substantial amounts of other acts evidence under the guise of 

proving facts which were not relevant to any charged offense and 
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where the other-acts evidence only established those facts as propensity 

evidence? 

 3. A motion to sever should be granted where necessary to 

ensure a defendant a fair trial. Mr. Hurn moved to sever a charge of 

communicating with a minor for immoral purposes from other charges 

noting the inherent prejudice of that single sexual offense on the 

remaining charges as well as the array of other acts evidence the 

permitted the State to offer as relevant to that single charge. Did the 

court err in denying Mr. Hurn’s motion to sever? 

  4. Where a person invokes their right to have counsel present 

during custodial interrogation no further interrogation can occur until 

counsel is provided. Mr. Hurn asserted his right to counsel and refused 

to waive, nonetheless police again initiated interrogation of him 

without first providing counsel. Did the trial court err in failing to 

suppress the fruits of that interrogation? 

C.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Afraid she would undergo heroin withdrawals, Karla Barnhardt 

had persuaded a friend to drive her to her dealer’s home. RP 901-02. 

Unfortunately Ms. Barnhardt confused a Northwest Seattle address 

with a Northeast Seattle address. RP 902-03. Upon realizing her 
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mistake, her friend left her in Northeast Seattle in the middle of the 

night. RP 903.  

 Still intent on getting heroin, she called her friend, Mr. Hurn, 

and asked him for a ride. RP 903. Mr. Hurn, who lived a short distance 

away from Ms. Barnhardt’s then location agreed to come get her. Id. 

 Ms. Barnhardt got into the car Mr. Hurn was driving. Mr. Hurn 

believed she simply wanted a ride to her father’s house a short distance 

away rather than expecting him to drive her across the city to buy 

drugs. RP 906. Upon realizing her true intent, Mr. Hurn demanded she 

either pay for the ride or get out of the car. Id. Ms. Barnhardt repeatedly 

refused. RP 907. 

 According to Ms. Barnhardt she got out of the car only when 

Mr. Hurn fired a gun through the car’s open sunroof. RP 908. A 

neighbor heard what he thought to be a gunshot and called police. RP 

1065-66. 

 When an officer arrived she saw Ms. Barnhardt seated on the 

curb. RP 704. Afraid she would be arrested on outstanding warrants, 

Mr. Barnhardt identified herself as Destiny Corral. RP 911, 913. She 

initially denied anything had happened then told the officer Mr. Hurn 

had fired a gun through the sunroof. RP 912-13. She also told the 

officer a young women was in the car whom she thought was named 
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“Bridget.” RP 904. The officer found a shell casing in the street. RP 

713. 

 Ms. Barnhardt described the car Mr. Hurn was driving that, and 

Acura, and also a Jeep Cherokee which he normally drove. R 904, 916. 

She then  directed the officers to Mr. Hurn’s apartment a few miles 

away. RP 726-27. Officers confirmed it was Mr. Hurn’s address and 

also saw the Acura in the complex’s parking lot. RP 775-76. 

 Mr. Hurn was stopped and arrested when he was seen walking a 

short distance away. RP 772-73. After, Ms. Barnhardt identified Mr. 

Hurn in a show-up procedure, the officer, still unaware of Ms. 

Barnhardt’s true identity, drove her to the home in Northwest Seattle 

where she had intended to go all along – the home of her heroin dealer. 

RP 733-34. 

 Upon his arrest, Mr. Hurn asked officers to retrieve a piece of 

paper from his pocket which stated in part that he demand all his right 

and was not waiving any rights. RP 86-7. Some officers at the scene 

understood this to mean he did not wish to speak with officers. CP 780, 

RP 81 

 During booking officers located a United States Treasury check 

made out to a person other than Mr. Hurn in Mr. Hurn’s wallet. RP 

784. 
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 Later that day, a police detective interrogated Mr. Hurn, despite 

his prior invocation of his rights. RP 162. Following that interrogation, 

officers obtained a search warrant for Mr. Hurn’s apartment and the 

Acura in the parking lot. 

 In his apartment, police recovered two guns. RP 839-42. One 

was subsequently determined to have fired the casing located in the 

street, and was it also discovered the gun was reported stolen along 

with a Jeep in which it had been stored. RP 1324-26, RP 1389, 1397. 

Officers also found several identifications including one bearing Mr. 

Hurn’s photo but in another’s name, and two picturing the same woman 

but bearing different names. RP 834-37. 

 The officers also learned the Acura had been reported stolen. RP 

989-90. In the Acura they found a holster which was later identified as 

belonging to the owner to the stolen gun and Jeep. RP 957-50. 

 Police subsequently located Bridget Brown who said she was 

present with Mr. Hurn when he stole the Acura, the Jeep, and another 

vehicle. RP 1234, 1238, 1243. Ms. Brown also said she was with him 

when he stole the check from a mail box. RP 1221. She stated that at 

some point Mr. Hurn made numerous sexual comments to her. RP 

1253-60. However, she stated she was not with Mr. Hurn the night 

Barnhardt claims he fired the gun from the car. RP 1217. 
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 The State charged Mr. Hurn with second degree assault with a 

firearm enhancement, unlawful possession of a firearm, possession of a 

stolen firearm, three counts of possession of a stolen vehicle, three 

counts of second degree identify theft, having vehicle theft tools, 

tampering with a witness, intimidating a witness and communicating 

with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 119-21. A jury convicted Mr. 

Hurn as charged. CP 290-303. 

D.  ARGUMENT 

1. The trial court erred and deprived Mr. Hurn a fair 
trial when it admitted evidence of his other acts 
which had no relevance beyond establishing he was 
a bad person. 

 
 Prior to trial, and over Mr. Hurn’s objections, the court ruled the 

State could introduce a host of irrelevant and prejudicial evidence of 

Mr. Hurn’s past acts Although Mr. Hurn was not facing any drug 

charges, the court permitted the State to introduce evidence that Mr. 

Hurn regularly used drugs. CP 788. Although he was not facing any 

theft charges, the court allowed testimony that Mr. Hurn regularly stole 

from mailboxes and stole cars. CP 787. Although no witness ever 

recanted their allegations against Mr. Hurn or otherwise placed their 

credibility at issue, the court permitted evidence of prior acts to bolster 

their credibility. CP 787-88. In short what the court permitted was a 

trial as much about Mr. Hurn’s past as about the current offenses.  
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a. ER 404 bars admission of other-acts evidence 
offered to prove character. 

 
 Generally, evidence of prior acts of the defendant offered solely 

to prove propensity to commit an offense is not admissible. ER 404(a). 

ER 404(b) provides: 

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not 
admissible to prove the character of a person in order to 
show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be 
admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, 
opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, 
identity, or absence of mistake or accident. 
 
“Properly understood . . . ER 404(b) is a categorical bar to the 

admission of evidence for the purpose of proving a person’s character 

and showing that the person acted in conformity with that character.” 

State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012); see also, 

State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 126, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (the 

purpose of ER 404(b) is to prevent consideration of prior acts evidence 

as proof of a general propensity for criminal conduct).  

ER 404(b) is not designed ‘to deprive the State of 
relevant evidence necessary to establish an essential 
element of its case,’ but rather to prevent the State from 
suggesting that a defendant is guilty because he or she is 
a criminal-type person who would be likely to commit 
the crime charged. 
 

State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007) (quoting 

State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 859, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)).   
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To admit evidence of other acts the trial court must (1) 
find by a preponderance of the evidence that the 
misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which 
the evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine 
whether that purpose is relevant to prove an element of 
the crime charged, and (4) weigh the probative value 
against the prejudicial effect. 
 

State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 923, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014) (citing 

State v. Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002).    

 The Court has explained the necessary analysis to determine the 

relevance of such evidence. First, the trial court must identify a proper 

purpose for admission. State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 

697 (1982). 

This has two aspects. First, the identified fact, for which 
the evidence is to be admitted, must be of consequence to 
the outcome of the action. The evidence should not be 
admitted to show intent, for example, if intent is of no 
consequence to the outcome of the action. Second, the 
evidence must tend to make the existence of the 
identified fact more or less probable.  
 

Id. at 362-63. Then, if the court determines the evidence is relevant it 

must weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect. 

Thus, there are two parts to the relevance analysis, the 

identification of a consequential purpose, and some tendency to make 

that consequential purpose more or less likely. Importantly, this second 

consideration cannot rely on propensity. State v. Wade, 98 Wn. App. 

328, 334-35, 989 P.2d 576 (1999) (citing Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d at 362). 
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In doubtful cases, the evidence should be excluded. State v. Smith, 106 

Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986).  

b. There was no relevant purpose for the evidence. 

i. Evidence that Mr. Hurn “stole cars regularly” and 
“regularly stole from mailboxes” had no relevance 
beyond its propensity value and was not admissible. 

 
 Over defense objection the court permitted to State to elicit 

testimony from Ms. Brown that Mr. Hurn regularly stole cars. RP 

1230-36. The court also permitted her to testify she and Mr. Hurn stole 

items from mail boxes on several occasions. RP 1220-21. 

  The court found this evidence “helps prove [Mr. Hurn’s] 

knowledge and method of how he steals cars.” Simply saying someone 

“regularly steals cars” does not prove how the person does it. Even if it 

did, Mr. Hurn was not charged with a single count of theft of a motor 

vehicle. Thus his general knowledge of how to steal cars could not be 

relevant to any element of any charged offense. Mr. Hurn’s general 

knowledge of how to steal a car does not tend to prove his actual 

knowledge that the cars he possessed were stolen, unless one assumes 

that because he steals cars he must have stolen these cars as well and 

therefore knew them to be stolen. Of course that inference is barred by 

ER 404(a). 
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 Further, his prior theft of cars cannot possibly be relevant to 

prove his intent to use another’s stolen identity to commit a crime. This 

is simply inviting the jury to conclude a thief is a thief, precisely what 

ER 404(a) prohibits. 

 Similarly, the fact that Mr. Hurn stole from mailboxes in no way 

establishes that his use of another’s identity was done with the intent to 

commit a crime. Evidence that Mr. Hurn stole a specific piece of mail 

which he then intended to use to commit a crime might be relevant to 

second degree identity theft. Too, theft of an unrelated person’s mail 

may constitute a crime in itself, RCW 9A.56.380, but it does not make 

Mr. Hurn’s specific intent in any charged crime more or less likely. 

Except, that is, as propensity evidence. 

 The court further found this evidence was relevant to “explain 

the context of the relationship” between Brown and Mr. Hurn which 

the court in turn found relevant to a host of offenses from identity theft 

to tampering with a witness. The relationship between the two is not 

remotely relevant to any of the possession or identity theft counts. 

Their relationship does not make it more or less likely that he possessed 

another’s identity with intent to commit a crime. Their relationship 

does not make it more or less likely that Mr. Hurn knew the car he was 

driving was stolen. Their relationship had no probative value with 
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regard to any of those offenses. Nor does it make any element of the 

remaining charges more or less likely. For instance, his “regular” theft 

from mailboxes does not make it more or less likely that he intimidated 

or tampered with a witness. 

 Finally, the court found the evidence was relevant to Ms. 

Brown’s credibility. Presenting evidence that Mr. Hurn is a car thief 

does not in any way make Brown’s testimony more or less credible – 

except by permitting the jury to conclude that if Mr. Hurn regularly 

steals cars Brown must be telling the truth when she says he stole the 

present cars. That is not a proper purpose under ER 404(b), instead it is 

the singular purpose barred by ER 404(a). 

 Brown’s initial reluctance to speak to police is readily explained 

by her complicity in the acts – people who have committed numerous 

crimes are often hesitant to speak with police. There was nothing she 

could tell the police regarding Mr. Hurn’s actions which would not also 

ultimately inculpate her. She was a “witness” to those events only 

because she was at minimum an accomplice. In fact this “evidence” 

was merely the vehicle the State provided Brown to diminish her own 

culpability for those offenses, offenses for which she apparently was 

not charged. 
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 Logical relevance is demonstrated if the identified fact for 

which the evidence is admitted is “of consequence to the outcome of 

the action” and tends to make the existence of that identified fact more 

or less probable. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d at 362–63. Again, it must 

establish the fact by some logical theory other than propensity. Wade, 

98 Wn. App. at 334-35. Thus, other-acts evidence offered to establish 

credibility must make credibility more or less likely free of its use as 

propensity evidence. The evidence at issue here did not meet this 

standard as it relied entirely upon its propensity value. 

ii. Evidence of that Mr. Hurn previously hit or 
threatened Brown was not relevant. 

 
 The court allowed Brown to testify that Mr. Hurn had hit and 

spit on her, had threatened to sell her to “the Mexicans,” and had once 

stood outside her window with a gun. CP 787-88; RP 1212. The court 

posited this evidence was relevant in to explain why she minimized her 

criminal involvement when first confronted by police. CP 788. The 

Court also reasoned that “like in domestic violence cases” this evidence 

explained ”the context of their relationship.” Id. 

 As addressed above, Brown’s testimony regarding the array of 

criminal offense for which she was never charged lends nothing to her 

credibility. In another case, it might be argued that inculpating oneself 
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lends credibility to one’s testimony. However, if the person knows they 

will not be prosecuted for the offense that relevance disappears. 

 Additionally, the Supreme Court has recently rejected the notion 

that prior acts evidence is broadly admissible as evidence of the 

“context” of a relationship. Gunderson held that such evidence, if 

admissible at all, could be admitted as relevant evidence of the 

witness’s credibility but only where the State first established “why or 

how the witness’s testimony is unreliable.” 181 Wn.2d at 925. The 

Court limited this class of evidence to instances in which the State can 

establish its “overriding probative value.” Id.  Further, the Court 

indicated that if such evidence is admitted to explain the “dynamics” of 

a relationship punctuated by violence, it should be admitted only in 

conjunction with expert testimony which explains the proper evaluation 

of the evidence. Id. at 925 n.4. 

 The trial court’s conclusion here that the prior-acts evidence was 

admissible as in domestic violence cases misses the point that such 

evidence is generally not admissible in those cases. The State did not 

provide any specific basis to conclude Brown’s testimony was 

unreliable. Additionally, the evidence could not be admitted to prove 

the “context” of the relationship, as that relationship was not relevant. 

Further, simply allowing the jury to hear of Mr. Hurn’s prior acts 
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without providing any explanation by way of an expert of how to 

properly evaluate the evidence with respect to the context of the 

relationship ignores Gunderson’s limitation. The evidence was not 

properly admitted. 

iii. Claims that Mr. Hurn “hit on” and said “nasty 
things” and “inappropriate” things to Karla 
Barnhardt were not admissible.  

 
 The court permitted Ms. Barnhardt to testify that on prior 

unrelated occasions Mr. Hurn had “hit on her” and made inappropriate 

sexual comments to her. CP 788. The court also permitted her to testify 

that he threatened to “sell” her and made threats against her. Again the 

court found this evidence admissible to explain the “context” of her 

relationship with Mr. Hurn. CP 788. Further the court found the 

evidence relevant to the “reasonable fear” element of second degree 

assault. 

 For the same reasons discussed above, this evidence was not 

admissible to explain the “context” or “dynamic” of Ms. Barnhardt’s 

relationship with Mr. Hurn. Moreover, there is no logical relevance 

between Mr. Hurn’s “inappropriate” language or acts and his alleged 

assaultive conduct.  

 Use of a defendant’s prior acts to prove that another’s fear of 

them is reasonable is not a permissible exception under ER 404. State 
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v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 194-95, 189 P.3d 126 (2008) (Madsen, J., 

concurring); id. at 195-99 (C. Johnson, J., dissenting). In Magers, the 

defendant was accused of holding a sword to the back of the victim’s 

neck and threatening to cut off her head. Id. at 179. The State charged 

him with second-degree assault, and the jury was instructed that “[a]n 

assault is also an act done with the intent to create in another 

apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and which in fact creates in 

another a reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury 

even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury.” 

Id. at 183. The victim recanted before trial, and the State offered 

evidence of the defendant’s prior violent acts towards the victim to 

impeach the victim’s credibility as well as other incidents of fighting 

involving third persons to show her state of mind. 

Four justices agreed with the State’s position that evidence of 

prior incidents was relevant and admissible to impeach a recanting 

victim’s testimony, and to show that her “state of mind” satisfied the 

“reasonable apprehension” definition of assault. Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 

181-86 (plurality). Three dissenting justices disagreed with the plurality 

on both issues. Id. at 194-99. The concurrence, agreed with the plurality 

that acts of violence involving the victim were relevant to her 

credibility. However, even though the State’s theory was that the 
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defendant committed the “reasonable apprehension” type of assault, the 

defendant’s prior acts of violence were not relevant to prove the alleged 

victim’s state of mind as an element of the crime.  Id. at 194 (Madsen, 

J., concurring). The concurring justices affirmed the convictions only 

because the improper admission of that evidence was harmless. Id. But 

there was no question that the admission of the evidence was error. Id. 

The dissent noted, “We should continue to emphasize the constriction 

of any exception to ER 404(b). … [I]f there is any doubt as to its 

admission, the scale should be tipped in favor of the exclusion of 

evidence.” Id. at 199 (C. Johnson, J., dissenting).  

  Gunderson has reaffirmed the limited nature of the exceptions 

under ER 404(b). In short, except in limited circumstance where the 

witness’s statements are internally contradictory, the evidence is not

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