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

C. ARGUMENT

1,. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS
DISCRETION IN ADMITTING ER 404(b) EVIDENCE.

Hurn contends that the trial court erred by admitting

evidence of prior bad acts under ER 404(b). Specifically, Hurn

argues that the trial court erred by admitting evidence that he had

stolen cars and mail, regularly used drugs, threatened and hit BB,

and made sexual advances toward Barnhardt. Because all of this

evidence was admissible for non-propensity purposes, the trial

court did not abuse its discretion.

ER 404(b) generally prohibits the use of evidence of other

crimes to prove the character of the person in order to show action

in conformity therewith. ER 404(b). Such evidence "may, however,

be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive,

opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or

absence of mistake or accident." Id. To justify the admission of

prior acts under the rule, there must be a showing that the evidence

serves a legitimate purpose, is relevant to prove an element of the

crime charged, and the probative value of the evidence outweighs

its prejudicial effect. Id. at 184. Evidence is relevant if it has a

-11-
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tendency to make the existence of any consequential fact more or

less probable than it would be without the evidence. ER 401.

Appellate courts review decisions on the admission of

evidence for abuse of discretion. State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174,

181, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). Abuse of discretion exists only when the

trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon

untenable grounds or reasons. Id.

a. Mail And Car Thefts.

Hurn first argues that there was no relevant purpose to admit

BB's testimony that she went "mailboxing" with Hurn on three or

four occasions and was with him when he stole cars, including the

three cars Hurn was accused of illegally possessing. RP 1221-22,

1230-42. Hurn contends that because he was not charged with

theft, the evidence that he stole cars and mail was not relevant. He

is mistaken.

The State charged Hurn with three counts of Possession of a

Stolen Vehicle relating to Legesse's silver Acura, Otten's blue Jeep,

and Gentry's blue Subaru. RP 119-20. To prove those charges,

the State had to establish that the cars in question were actually

stolen and that Hurn knew it. RCW 9A.56.068; CP 257-60. BB's

testimony that Hurn stole the cars was relevant to prove both of

-12-
1506-20 Hurn COA



these elements. Further, since Hurn had claimed that he was only

borrowing the Acura, this connection was necessary to rebut the

potential defense that he did not know the car was stolen. CP 173

(copy of Pretrial Ex. 12).

The State also charged Hurn with Making or Having Vehicle

Theft Tools. CP 120. That charge required the State to prove that

Hurn made or possessed "any vehicle theft tool ... under

circumstances evincing an intent to use or employ ... in the

commission of motor vehicle theft, or knowing that the same is

intended to be so used[.]" RCW 9A.56.063(1); CP 262-63. BB's

testimony that Hurn used "jiggler keys" to steal cars was thus

relevant to prove that Hurn possessed such tools, knew they were

intended to be used to steal cars, and intended to use them. for that

purpose.

BB's testimony that she and Hurn stole from mailboxes was

similarly relevant to prove the three counts of Identity Theft in the

Second Degree. Identity theft requires proof that the defendant

knowingly possessed identification or information of another person

with intent to commit a crime. RCW 9.35.020; CP 265, 267, 269,
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271. As the trial court properly concluded, BB's testimony that she

and Hurn stole mail from mailboxes, and thereby obtained an IRS

check that Hurn intended to cash, was relevant to establish Hurn's

intent to commit a crime when he possessed fraudulent driver's

licenses in the name of the IRS check's recipient and others.

CP 787 (Conclusion of Law ("CL") 2).

Hurn points out that not all of this evidence was relevant to

all of his charges. Brief of Appellant at 9-11. But he cites no

authority for the proposition that evidence must be relevant to all

charges to be admissible. As indicated above, the evidence that

Hurn stole cars and mail was relevant to prove elements of identity

theft, possession of stolen vehicles, and making or having vehicle

theft tools. There was no abuse of discretion.

b. Threats And Violence Against BB And Threats
And Sexual Advances Toward Barnhardt.

Hurn next contends that the trial court erred in admitting

evidence that he had threatened BB, had pointed a gun at her, and

had hit her. He also argues that the court erred in allowing

Barnhardt to testify that Hurn threatened and made inappropriate

sexual advances toward her.

1506-20 Hurn COA



The court concluded that Hurn's treatment of BB was

relevant for several purposes: to explain why BB initially withheld

information from police about the nature and extent of Hurn's

alleged criminal activity3 and sexual misconduct, to explain the

context of their relationship, and to allow the jury to assess her

overall credibility on the stand. CP 787-88 (CL 3). The court

concluded that evidence of Hurn's treatment of Barnhardt was

relevant to the question whether or not Barnhardt reasonably

feared imminent harm when Hurn fired a gun two feet from her

head. CP 788 (GL 4). Additionally, the court found that the same

evidence was relevant to explain the relationship and dynamic

between Hurn and Barnhardt and in assessing Barnhardt's

credibility. CP 788.

Hurn challenges the notion that evidence of his mistreatment

of BB and Barnhardt, is admissible to show the context of the

relationship. He argues that State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916,

337 P.3d 1090 (2014), limits the admissibility of such evidence to

circumstances in which "the State first established ̀ why or how the

witness's testimony is unreliable."' Brief of Appellant at 13. He

3 Hurn erroneously asserts that the trial court found this evidence relevant to
explain why BB minimized her own criminal activity. Compare Brief of Appellant
at 12 with CP 788 (CL 3).
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asserts that, because "the State did not provide any specific basis

to conclude [BB's] testimony was unreliable," her testimony about

the dynamic of their relationship was irrelevant. With respect to

Barnhardt, Hurn argues that such evidence is not relevant "except

in limited circumstances] where the witness's statements are

internally contradictory," and asserts that "no circumstances existed

to put Ms. Barnhardt's credibility at issue beyond that of any other

witness." Brief of Appellant at 16. Hurn's reliance on Gunderson is

misplaced.

In Gunderson, the State charged the defendant with

domestic violence felony violation of a court order based upon an

altercation between the defendant and his ex-girlfriend. 181 Wn.2d

at 918. The ex-girlfriend testified that no assault had occurred, and

the State was permitted to impeach that testimony with evidence of

Gunderson's prior domestic violence against her. Id. The supreme

court held that, because the victim gave no conflicting statements

about Gunderson's conduct, evidence of his past abuse had very

little impeachment value, which was substantially outweighed by

the potential prejudice. Id. at 924-25.

~~
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In this case, both BB and Barnhardt did give inconsistent

statements, and their credibility was the sole focus of Hurn's

defense.4 Barnhardt falsely identified herself to Officer San Miguel

and initially denied that any shooting had occurred. During cross

examination, Hurn's counsel elicited from Barnhardt further

inconsistent statements pertaining to how long before the shooting

she had used heroin. RP 939-40. As the defense repeatedly

emphasized, BB did not initially tell police about Hurn's sexual

advances or about his pointing a gun at her through her bedroom

window. RP 1261, 1268. Additionally, BB was inconsistent in her

report that Hurn had bitten her bottom, at one point saying it

happened in one location and at another point saying that it had

happened elsewhere. RP 1273-74. Since BB and Barnhardt had

both made inconsistent and contradictory statements about their

involvement with Hurn, their testimony about his mistreatment of

them was not barred by Gunderson.

4 In his opening statement, Hurn's attorney asserted that BB and Barnhardt were
both drug addicts with a history of crimes involving dishonesty who lie when it
suits their purposes. RP 690-92. Hurn's closing argument continued that theme,
arguing that "the State has no choice but to rely upon the good word of
Karla Barnhardt who has a problem with telling the truth" and that Barnhardt
"flip-flopped on key facts," and suggesting that she invented the assault "to get
even" and only "stuck with the story because if she didn't, she might go to jail and
jail means withdrawal." RP 1934-37. He also argued that BB lied regularly,
required leading questions on direct because she "can't remember her lines," and
emphasized that she did not report Hurn's sexual misconduct in her first interview
with police. RP 1944-45.
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In State v. Baker, this Court held that evidence of the

dynamics of a hostile relationship between the defendant and victim

was relevant to assessing the credibility of a victim, even if she

never recants. 162 Wn. App. 468, 474-75, 259 P.3d 270 (2011).

This is so because such evidence helps the jury to understand why

the victim failed to report or minimized prior assaults. Id. Similarly

here, evidence that Hurn abused and intimidated Barnhardt and BB

through physical violence and verbal threats was relevant to explain

why Barnhardt initially denied having been assaulted and did not

want to testify (RP 899),. and why BB minimized Hurn's criminal

conduct and failed to report any sexual misconduct when she first

spoke with police. As in Baker, the jury was entitled to evaluate

BB's and Barnhardt's credibility with full knowledge of the dynamics

of their relationships with Hurn. See id. at 475; State v. Grant, 83

Wn. App. 98, 920 P.2d 609 (1996) (where victim's credibility is a

central issue at trial, jury entitled to evaluate credibility with full

knowledge of the dynamics of a relationship marked by domestic

violence and the effect such a relationship has on the victim).

Further, the evidence of Hurn's treatment of BB and

Barnhardt was not admitted solely for credibility purposes. As the

trial court concluded, the evidence relating to Hurn's prior
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mistreatment of Barnhardt was also clearly relevant to prove the

second-degree assault charge, a hotly contested essential element

of which was Barnhardt's reasonable apprehension of harm.

CP 788 (CL 4). Hurn argues that prior acts evidence is not

admissible for that purpose. He is mistaken.

In Magers, a plurality decision, the supreme court affirmed

the trial court's admission of the defendant's prior misconduct on

two theories: first, that the prior bad acts were relevant to an

assault charge because "reasonable fear of bodily injury" was a

material issue in the case; and second, that the prior misconduct

was relevant to assessing the recanting victim's credibility. 164

Wn.2d at 181-82, 186. The lead opinion affirmed on both theories.

The concurrence would not have admitted the evidence to show the

victim's reasonable fear because, in its view, the State did not need

to prove that the victim was afraid. Id. at 194 (Madsen, J.,

concurring). Rather, the State needed only to prove that "a

reasonable person under the same circumstances would have a

reasonable fear of bodily injury." Id. There is no authority cited for

that proposition, nor is there any explanation of why prior acts of

violence toward a victim would not be among the "same

circumstances" the jury was entitled to consider. In any event, the
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concurrence found it "[m]ore important[]" that the State had not

offered the evidence for that purpose, but instead to explain why

the domestic violence victim recanted. Id. Likewise, the dissent

pointed out that the reason for admitting the prior bad acts evidence

was "primarily" to explain the victim's inconsistent statements and

focused entirely on that purpose (although the dissent noted in

passing that the Court of Appeals had "correctly" held that the

evidence was inadmissible under either theory). Id. at 196-99.

In this case, the State was required to prove that Hurn's

conduct "in fact created] in another a reasonable apprehension

and imminent fear of bodily injury." CP 241. The State explicitly

offered the other acts evidence to prove that element, and the trial

court expressly admitted the evidence for that purpose. CP 788,

818-19. Since Magers, this Court has continued to hold that prior

bad acts evidence is admissible to show the victim's state of mind

as an essential element of assault. State v. Johnson, 172 Wn. App.

112, 121, 297 P.3d 710 (2012), rev'd in part on other grounds, 180

Wn.2d 295, 325 P.3d 135 (2014). This Court should adhere to that

position and affirm the admission of the other acts evidence here.

The evidence of Hurn's prior mistreatment of BB was also

relevant to Hurn's motive with respect to the charges of
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Communicating with a Minor for Immoral Purposes, Intimidating a

Witness, and Tampering With a Witness. Evidence of a hostile

relationship between the defendant and a victim is admissible to

show motive. Baker, 162 Wn. App. at 473-74. For purposes of

ER 404(b), motive "goes beyond gain and can demonstrate an

impulse, desire, or any other moving power which causes an

individual to act." Id. (quoting State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 259,

893 P.2d 615 (1995)). Evidence that Hurn had threatened, hit, and

pointed a gun at BB, as well as evidence of her personal

knowledge of his criminal activity, was relevant to demonstrate his

motive and intent with respect to the tampering and intimidation

charges.

c. Regular Drug Use.

Hurn also contends that the trial court erred by allowing BB

and Barnhardt to testify that Hurn frequently provided and used

drugs with them. The trial court concluded that this evidence was

integral to show the nature of the relationships between each of the

young women and Hurn, to assess their credibility, and to prove

intent with respect to the CMIP charge, and was also relevant to

motive and intent for committing the property crimes. CP 788

(CL 5). The court further found that the probative value of this
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evidence "far outweighs" any prejudicial effect, a finding that Hurn

does not challenge. CP 789.

Hurn argues that the evidence that he regularly provided and

used drugs with BB and Barnhardt is not "integral" in showing the

relationship between the women and Hurn. But the evidence

showed that Hurn met each of these witnesses in the context of

seeking or selling drugs and that Hurn's activity with both of them

involved getting them high and then making sexual advances

toward them. RP 884-85, 891, 1200, 1272. He provided 15-year-

old BB drugs on nearly a daily basis and took her with him to

commit numerous property crimes. BB testified that she was

addicted to these drugs; thus, the fact that Hurn was providing them

helps to explain why she participated in the string of mail and car

thefts and why she did not fully report Hurn's criminal offenses

when she first spoke with police. Further, the fact that BB was

using drugs when she witnessed Hurn stealing mail and cars was

important for the jury's evaluation of her testimony about those

events. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 83, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)

("It is well settled in Washington that evidence of drug use is

admissible to impeach the credibility of a witnesses if there is a
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showing that the witness was using or was influenced by the drugs

at the time of the occurrence which is the subject of the testimony").

d. Any Error Was Harmless.

Because the trial court identified relevant, non-propensity

purposes for evidence of Hurn's prior bad acts, it did not abuse its

discretion and should be affirmed. But even if the trial court erred

in admitting the prior acts evidence, this Court should affirm

because any error was harmless. The erroneous admission of

ER 404(b) evidence requires reversal only if the error, within

reasonable probability, materially affected the outcome of the trial.

State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 709, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). It

is Hurn's burden to establish this prejudice. State v. Barry,

No. 89976-2, 2015 W~ 3511916 at *2 (June 4, 2015) (under

non-constitutional harmless error standard, the accused cannot

avail himself of error as a ground for reversal unless it has been

prejudicial). To demonstrate the requisite prejudice, Hurn relies on

no more than a comparison of the number of pages of Barnhardt's

testimony that had to do with the assault and the number of pages

of her testimony that had to do with past events. This falls well

short of the showing necessary to justify reversal. This Court

should affirm.
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2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO
SEVER THE COUNTS..

Hurn next contends that the trial court erred by refusing to

sever the Communication with a Minor for Immoral Purposes count

from the remaining charges for trial. This claim should be rejected.

Separate trials are not favored in Washington, and a

defendant seeking severance of an offense must establish that a

joint trial would be so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh the

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